# STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT



JUN 18 2020

Case No. 2019AP90-CR

OLERK OF SHARRES COURT OF VILLOUISM

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

V

' ?

GEORGE E. SAVAGE,

Defendant-Appellant.

## PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SONYA BICE LEVINSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1058115

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-3935 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) levinsonsb@doj.state.wi.us

##

### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

To show prejudice in a plea withdrawal context, a defendant must prove a reasonable probability that he would have gone to trial and that his defense would have succeeded. While on supervision and under orders to comply with sex offender registry requirements, Savage cut off his GPS device and absconded. He was charged with violating the sex offender registry statute and accepted a plea agreement with favorable terms. He sought plea withdrawal on grounds of manifest injustice, asserting ineffective assistance of counsel. He argued that State v. Dinkins, 2012 WI 24, ¶ 28, 339 Wis. 2d 78, 810 N.W.2d 787, provided a defense to a defendant who "attempted to comply with the registration requirements but was unable to find housing," and that he'd have gone to trial if counsel had told him about that defense. Did Savage prove a reasonable probability that he would have gone to trial and that his defense would have succeeded at trial?

The circuit court answered no on the grounds that Savage "did not have a defense" under Dinkins.

The court of appeals concluded that Savage "may have a defense" under Dinkins and remanded for a second evidentiary hearing.

This Court should reverse because Savage has not shown likely success of the Dinkins defense at trial and has therefore not shown manifest injustice warranting plea withdrawal.

2. An appellate court will sustain a circuit court's decision if facts in the record support the decision even if the circuit court's reasoning was flawed. Here, the circuit court's credibility findings and findings of fact were not clearly erroneous and supported the decision. Should the court of

appeals have addressed the flawed reasoning but sustained the circuit court's decision based on facts in the record?

The court of appeals answered no.

This Court should answer yes.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## This Court issued its decision in State v. Dinkins.

In State v. Dinkins, this Court recognized that homelessness may create challenges for offenders seeking to comply with sex offender registration requirements. The State charged Dinkins with failing to comply with his registry obligation to provide the Department of Corrections (DOC), no later than ten days before his release, the address at which he would reside after being released from prison. Dinkins, 339 Wis. 2d 78, ¶ 1. He appealed, and the court of appeals reversed his conviction, noting "an apparent unintended gap [with respect to homeless prisoners] in the reporting requirement of the sex registration law." State v. Dinkins, 2010 WI App 163, ¶ 4, 330 Wis. 2d 591, 794 N.W.2d 236.

This Court affirmed the court of appeals on a different rationale, holding that "a registrant cannot be convicted . . . for failing to report the address at which he will be residing when he was unable to provide this information" because it "does not exist, despite the registrant's reasonable attempt to provide it." Dinkins, 339 Wis. 2d 78, ¶ 52. Nevertheless, it emphasized that "homeless registrants are not exempt from registration requirements and that homelessness is not a defense to failing to comply with the registration requirements." Id. ¶¶ 27, 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(e)4.

This Court also recognized that, in response to the court of appeals' decision, DOC had "attempted to close [the] unintended gap" recognized by the court of appeals by issuing a directive that provided "guidance for addressing homeless registrants who are on active DOC supervision as well as homeless registrants who have been terminated from supervision." Id. ¶ 26 (citing Wisconsin Department of Corrections Administrative Directive # 11-4, DOC-1356 (Rev.), effective July 1, 2011).23

## Savage was ordered to register as a sex offender.

Savage was convicted in 2014 of a child sex offense and was sentenced to 18 months in prison and two years of extended supervision. (R. 2:3.) He was also ordered to register as a sex offender for ten years. (R. 2:4.)

He was released from prison on March 23, 2016. (R. 35.) The day before his release, on March 22, 2016, Savage signed a form acknowledging that he had a duty to register as a sex offender. (R. 2:8, 10.) The first page, titled "Sex Offender Registration," listed Savage's address as "Homeless" in the city of Milwaukee and listed a Milwaukee zip code. (R. 2:8.) The second page is titled "Notice of Requirements to Register." Savage initialed the form

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> DOC subsequently reissued the directive effectuating the holding. Wisconsin Department of Corrections Administrative Directive # 15-12, DOC1356 (Rev.), effective March 1, 2015, was in effect when Savage was released from prison in March 2016.

<sup>3</sup> As the Court will see below, the circuit court and the court of appeals disagreed on the application of Dinkins to this case. See infra at 14, 16-17. Although the State considers the circuit court's analysis more thoughtful and persuasive, the State takes the position that this case can be resolved in the State's favor without disturbing the holding in Dinkins.

beneath the statement, "When on Wisconsin Department of Corrections Supervision[:] Prior to any change in residence. ... report the change directly to your assigned Community Corrections agent. You will also need to report the change to SORP [the Sex Offender Registry Program] by calling 1-888-963-3363." (R. 2:10 (emphasis added).)

Under the Department of Corrections (DOC) policy in effect when Savage was released from prison, a registrant who is released from prison will not be criminally charged for being unable to provide an address to the registry before he leaves prison. The policy requires that "lelvery effort must be made" to help registrants find housing. If registrants remain homeless despite those efforts, DOC will place registrants on discretionary Global Position Satellite (GPS) tracking. The DOC policy lists eight rules for agents who are supervising homeless registrants, including that they "utilize supervision strategies to accommodate" the registrant's reporting needs. It lists four rules for homeless registrants to follow, including that they call their agent weeklv.4

Savage's agent put him on discretionary monitoring.<sup>5</sup> (R. 45:48.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See DOC Administrative Directive #15-12, effective March 1, 2015., available at https://doc.wi.gov/Guidance%20Documents/DCC/DCC\_AD15-12\_Homeless%20Sex%20Offender%20Registrants.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Wisconsin Stat. § 301.48 governs the GPS tracking system for sex offenders. Wisconsin Stat. § 301.48(2)(a) addresses lifetime, mandatory tracking, and Section 301.48(2)(d) addresses discretionary tracking. Wisconsin Stat. § 946.465 makes it a felony to tamper with a GPS monitoring device. Savage testified that his agent told him he "would not be charged with a felony charge for removing the bracelet." (R. 45:48.) The specialist also

## Savage cut off his GPS bracelet and absconded.

The sex offender registry specialist documented her communication with Savage's agent and Savage's contact with the registry. (R. 35; 45:14.)

On May 5, 2016, Savage cut off his GPS bracelet and ceased contact with his probation agent. (R. 35.) On May 18, the agent emailed the sex offender registry specialist that Savage had cut off the bracelet and absconded. (R. 35.) On May 20, responding to the specialist's question, the agent sent an email "advising that registrant absconded from active supervision on 5/05/16." (R. 35.)

Savage left a voicemail with the SORP on May 15. 2016, reporting a temporary address, (R. 35.) The next day. not yet informed of Savage's absconder status, the specialist sent Savage's agent an email asking for information. (R. 35.) The agent responded that Savage had cut off his GPS bracelet. (R. 35.)

The specialist replied, describing Savage's conduct as consistent with the strategy of experienced homeless registrants who attempt to evade supervision while avoiding criminal charges by staying in contact with SORP:

When did he abscond? . . . Since he reported the address to SORP, it may appear his intent is to remain compliant with SORP and just does not want to be on supervision (or follow the rules). This is happening quite a bit especially with the homeless and [those] who have been through [failure to report] court cases already. I also note that he is on

stated in her notes that such a charge "could not be issued." (R. 35.) The basis for the specialist's statement is not given. The fact that no felony tampering charge issued does not have any bearing on the question of whether Savage had a defense to the charge of failing to comply with registry requirements.

discretionary GPS so if arrested, a felony charge for tampering with it could not be issued. We will wait to see the outcome of the letter for any further noncompliance.

(R. 35.)

Case 2019AP000090

On May 19, 2016, the specialist mailed a letter to Savage at the temporary address he had provided on May 15; on June 2, 2016, the letter was returned as undeliverable. (R. 35.)

On June 17, 2016, Savage contacted the SORP by telephone to report that he had not received the letter. In that call, he claimed that he had called in with an address change on or about May 24. (R. 35.) But the specialist reported there was no record of the voicemail he claimed to have left. (R. 35.) The specialist instructed Savage that he "need[ed] to update his agent" and get a mailing address approved. (R. 35.)

On June 20, 2016, the specialist noted that Savage's agent emailed advising that he remained an absconder. (R. 35.) The entry from that date also notes that Savage had not "contacted Specialist as directed to request mailing address." (R. 35.)

## Savage was charged.

On August 4, 2016, the State charged Savage with failing to comply with sex offender registry reporting requirements, a Class H felony, and issued a warrant. (R. 1; 2:1-2.) He was arrested and made his initial appearance in this case in February 2017. (R. 3; 44:22.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> He was charged under Wis. Stat. §§ 301.45 (2)-(4), (6), (6)(a)1., and 939.50(3)(h).

## Savage pleaded guilty.

Savage entered a guilty plea. (R. 44:2.) He faced a maximum sentence of six years' imprisonment. (R. 2:1.) The terms of the plea agreement were that Savage would plead to the charge, and in exchange the State would recommend a 12-month sentence. (R. 6:2; 44:2.)

The circuit court engaged in an extensive plea colloquy before it accepted Savage's guilty plea. (R. 44:2-19.) The parties stipulated to the use of the complaint as the factual basis for the plea, and the circuit court found Savage guilty. (R. 44:18-19.)

## The circuit court sentenced Savage.

In its sentencing argument, the State detailed Savage's criminal record, focusing on Savage's two prior cases of failing to comply with registry requirements. A 2006 charge was dismissed after Savage returned to compliance. A 2012 charge was initially resolved with a deferred prosecution agreement but ultimately resulted in a 12month sentence because the DPA was revoked after Savage was charged with a new child sex offense. (R. 44:20, 21.) Consistent with the plea agreement, the State requested a 12-month sentence in this case. (R. 44:22.)

Trial counsel's sentencing argument focused on the difficulties Savage encountered in complying with the registry requirements. (R. 44:23-25.) Quoting from the agent's notes, she informed the circuit court that Savage had made attempts to call in address updates to the registry and that "at one point in time his agent told him . . . to use her office address as he would need to see her and then they could continue with the compliance requirements of the registry." (R. 44:24.) Counsel informed the circuit court that Savage's failure to report had led to the revocation of his extended supervision and a revocation sentence equal to the

full balance of his sentence: two years and three days. (R. 44:25.) She requested that any sentence be ordered to run concurrent with his revocation sentence. (R. 44:25.)

The circuit court sentenced Savage to 30 months in prison followed by 24 months of extended supervision. (R. 44:29.) The circuit court ordered the sentence to run concurrent with the revocation sentence, thereby adding nine months in prison and two years of supervision to the combined sentences. (R. 44:29-30.)

## Savage moved for postconviction relief and was granted an evidentiary hearing.

Savage moved for postconviction relief, seeking an evidentiary hearing on his motion to withdraw his plea due to a manifest injustice. (R. 19:14.) He claimed that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to inform him that he had a defense under Dinkins, citing the case and arguing that "because he did not have an address" his homelessness "had prevented him from being able to provide an address," and that "[t]his defense was an absolute defense." (R. 19:12.) He also claimed that "on multiple occasions" trial counsel had assured him that if he pled guilty, he would receive a concurrent sentence that would not exceed his revocation sentence and would require no additional time in prison.7 (R. 19:2.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Savage was deemed to have abandoned the sentencerelated claim on appeal. See State v. George E. Savage, No. 2019AP90-CR, 2020 WL 356735, ¶ 2 n.1 (Wis. Ct. App. Jan. 22, 2020) (unpublished). (R-App. 101, 106.) However, evidence adduced and credibility determinations made on that claim are relevant to the remaining ineffective assistance claim, so the State is including it here.

In his affidavit attached to the motion, Savage averred that counsel had made an "unequivocal promise" that he would not serve any additional time. (R. 20:12–13.) He further averred that trial counsel had "never informed [him] that good faith efforts to comply with . . . sex offender supervision requirements would bar [his] conviction"; that he was homeless at the relevant time; and that "this homelessness was a defense[.]" (R. 20:13.)

The circuit court granted Savage an evidentiary *Machner* hearing. (R. 45.)

Trial counsel testified about how Savage wanted to resolve the case and why she did not pursue a Dinkins defense.

At the hearing, Savage's trial counsel testified that she had more than 28 years' experience as a public defender. (R. 45:8.) On direct examination she testified that when presented with the State's offer letter, Savage had been "adamant that he did not want any more supervision and wanted concurrent time." (R. 45:11, 27–28.) She testified that she told Savage that she would "argue[] for concurrent time and ask the court not to exceed the two years and three days [he] received on the revocation" and that the State would not take a position on whether the time would be concurrent or consecutive. (R. 45:11–12.) Critically, she testified that she told Savage that the recommendations were not binding and the sentence was ultimately up to the judge. (R. 45:11, 12–13.)

In response to questions about the relevance of homelessness to Savage's case, trial counsel responded that she "discussed with him that homelessness was not an absolute defense to the charge" and "explained . . . there was, in fact, a homeless protocol in place through the Sex Offender Registry." (R. 45:13.) Counsel said that she was familiar with this protocol and was "aware that the registry

specialist . . . will accept cross streets, parks, different locations as long as people are calling in as required by the registry." (R. 45:21-22.) Counsel testified that she never advised Savage that an inability to comply was a defense to the charge "Iblecause there was a bigger issue that he also cut off the GPS monitoring unit." (R. 45:22.)

On cross examination, the prosecutor followed up on the relevance of the DOC protocol<sup>8</sup> for homeless registrants:

And you're familiar with Q [Prosecutor]: the homelessness protocol?

A [Trial counsel]: Yes.

- And that is a protocol that is I guess Q: even more prevalent since the Dinkins decision. And you've seen that protocol [being] used in other situations; is that fair?
- I have. And I've also spoken to · A: specialists at the preliminary hearing to inquire specifically more details of that . . . so I could share it with clients who are facing that situation.
- Because ultimately if people become compliant and aware and understand the protocol, it benefits everybody; is that fair?
  - A: Very much so.
- Q: So you have it sounds like almost done your own research into the homelessness protocol so that you would be able to better explain it to other clients that you had had. Is that accurate?
- That is. I've asked the specialist specifically what it is, and I can share it with other individuals. I even asked if they had a written one. I wasn't given a written one that described that they would accept park locations, cross streets as long as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See supra note 2.

a call was made in accordance with the registry conditions.

(R. 45:23-24.)

Counsel was also asked whether the fact that Savage cut off his GPS device and absconded "factor[ed] into [her] evaluation of the case." (R. 45:25, 26.) She testified that both facts did. (R. 45:25, 26.) This was because "the agent knew that the GPS bracelet had been removed" for several months and "had not been returned." (R. 45:25.) She testified that cutting off the GPS bracelet reflected Savage's "level of intent not to comply" with his registry obligations, and so did the absconding. (R. 45:25-26.)

Savage testified about why he took the plea.

Savage testified as well. He said he took the plea because he "was under the belief that [he] would not serve any more time than the two year revocation time [he] was serving and that [he] wouldn't be given any following supervision upon release." (R. 45:33-44.) He testified that trial counsel brought him the plea agreement paperwork and told him "it will just be a quick in and out, you'll get a year to go with ran with your two year revocation time, there won't be any additional supervision for you," and they would simply go to court and "just get it over with." (R. 45:35.)

He testified that while he was under supervision he did not have an address to provide to his agent. (R. 45:37.) When asked if he ever "callfed the agent up to talk – to tell her what was going on," he answered that he had "called the SOR people in Madison." (R. 45:38.) He testified that trial counsel had never indicated that his inability to provide an address because he did not have one was a defense even though he had told her his situation:

I told her I was homeless and that several attempts to try to stay in compliance, several attempts with

my agent, my probation agent, to try to find some type of a satisfactory housing and was basically told, there's nothing I can do for you from my agent who. you know, I told her it made it impossible with me being on a bracelet to be anywhere.

(R. 45:39.)

On cross-examination Savage did not dispute that he had been on the sex offender registry for more than 20 years (R. 45:41); that he had a 2006 charge for failing to comply with registry requirements that was dismissed after he regained compliance (R. 45:42); and that he had been charged with the same offense in 2012 and placed on a deferred prosecution agreement that was revoked when he committed a new sex offense. (R. 45:43.) He admitted that he cut off his bracelet, absconded from probation, and stopped complying with his agent. (R. 45:49-50.) He explained, when asked what he thought would happen after he cut off his GPS monitoring bracelet, "I knew that there would be consequences. I didn't believe I would be charged as long as I stayed compliant with the registry." (R. 45:48.) When asked to confirm whether he had "stopped complying with [his] agent," Savage paused to clarify before answering:

[Savage]: With my agent?

[State]: Your probation agent.

[Savage]: Yes.

(R. 45:49-50.)

Savage testified that he pled guilty only because of counsel's promise about the sentence outcome and failure to tell him about a defense under Dinkins, and that he would have gone to trial otherwise. (R. 45:40.)

The circuit court heard arguments and made credibility determinations, findings of fact, and conclusions of law.

Postconviction counsel's argument—that the facts supported a defense under Dinkins—was premised not on trial counsel's Machner testimony, but on her sentencing argument, which postconviction counsel referenced ten times. (R. 45:55–58.)

The State instead pointed to this evidence adduced at the Machner hearing:

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