RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-06-2019

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2019AP90-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GEORGE E. SAVAGE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK A. SANDERS, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

Because Savage did not establish that his trial counsel was ineffective, he did not prove by clear and convincing evidence that he was entitled to withdraw his plea based on a manifest injustice.

A. Standard of review and legal principles

1. Standard of review

This Court reviews the circuit court's exercise of its discretion to grant or deny a plea-withdrawal motion under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *State v. Cain*, 2012 WI 68, ¶ 20, 342 Wis. 2d 1, 816 N.W.2d 177. A circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion "as a matter of law" when it does not allow plea withdrawal after a defendant has proved a denial of a constitutional right. *See id*. ¶ 21.

Whether counsel was ineffective is a question of constitutional fact, which this Court analyzes under a mixed standard of review. *State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶ 86, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44. The Court "upholds the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous." *Id*. But this Court independently reviews whether those facts constitute ineffective assistance. *Id*.

2. Post-sentencing plea withdrawal

A defendant who seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing must prove by clear and convincing evidence that a refusal to allow plea withdrawal would result in a manifest injustice. *State v. Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶ 24, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482. A defendant may bring a *Nelson/Bentley*² motion to withdraw his or her plea on manifest injustice

² Nelson v. State, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972), modified by State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

grounds based on a factor extrinsic to the plea colloquy that renders the plea infirm. *State v. Sulla*, 2016 WI 46, ¶ 25, 369 Wis. 2d 225, 880 N.W.2d 659 (citations omitted).

A manifest injustice based on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. "One way to demonstrate manifest injustice is to establish that the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel." Dillard, 358 Wis. 2d 543, ¶ 84. A defendant who has proved that his or her counsel was ineffective has demonstrated a manifest injustice that entitles the defendant to withdraw his or her plea. Cain, 342 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 26. The defendant bears the burden at an evidentiary hearing to prove by clear and convincing evidence that plea withdraw is necessary to avoid a manifest injustice. $State\ v$. Hoppe, 2009 WI 41, ¶ 60, 317 Wis. 2d 161, 765 N.W.2d 794.

A defendant alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel has the burden of proving both that counsel's performance was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

To prove deficient performance, the defendant must show that his counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness" considering all the circumstances. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. The defendant must demonstrate that specific acts or omissions of counsel fell "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Id.* at 690. A court should presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance. *Id.*

To demonstrate prejudice, the defendant must affirmatively prove that the alleged deficient performance prejudiced him. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. The defendant must show something more than that counsel's errors had a conceivable effect on the proceeding's outcome. *Id.* Rather, the defendant must demonstrate "that there is a reasonable

probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694.

To satisfy the prejudice prong in the plea withdrawal context, the defendant must allege "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 312, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996) (citation omitted). "As a general matter . . . a defendant who has no realistic defense to a charge supported by sufficient evidence will be unable to carry his burden of showing prejudice from accepting a guilty plea." Lee v. United States, 137 S. Ct. 1958, 1966 (2017).

As the Supreme Court explained, "A defendant without any viable defense will be highly likely to lose at trial. And a defendant facing such long odds will rarely be able to show prejudice from accepting a guilty plea that offers him a better resolution than would be likely after trial." *Lee*, 137 S. Ct. at 1966. Further, the Supreme Court cautioned courts assessing prejudice in the plea withdrawal context that they "should not upset a plea solely because of post hoc assertions from a defendant about how he would have pleaded but for his attorney's deficiencies." *Id.* at 1967. Instead, courts should consider "contemporaneous evidence to substantiate a defendant's expressed preferences." *Id.*

A manifest injustice grounded in a claim that a plea was involuntarily entered. "A manifest injustice occurs when there are serious questions affecting the fundamental integrity of the plea which rendered it unknowing, involuntary, and unintelligently entered." State v. Denk, 2008 WI 130, ¶ 71, 315 Wis. 2d 5, 758 N.W.2d 775. Thus, "[o]ne way for a defendant to meet this burden is to show that he did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily enter the plea." Sulla, 369 Wis. 2d 225, ¶ 24 (citations omitted). The defendant must be "aware of the nature of the offense to which he [is] pleading." State v. Trochinski, 2002 WI 56, ¶ 30, 253 Wis. 2d 38, 644

N.W.2d 891. Therefore, "[a] plea is not voluntary if the defendant did not understand the essential elements of the charged offense at the time the plea was entered." *State v. Nichelson*, 220 Wis. 2d 214, 218, 582 N.W.2d 460 (Ct. App. 1998).

3. Violation of the sex offender registry law

Wisconsin Stat. § 301.45 creates a statewide sex offender registry. Subject to specific exceptions, it requires certain sex offenders to comply with the section's reporting requirements. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(1g) and (1m). It specifies the offender information that must be included in the registry, including identifying information, information about their offenses, and addresses where they will be residing. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(a).

DOC is responsible for entering the required information under subsection (2)(a) for offenders under DOC supervision. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(b). Under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(f), DOC may require the offender to provide certain information required under subsection (2)(a).

Wisconsin Stat. § 301.45(4) requires an offender to update information required under subsection (2)(a) as circumstances change on an ongoing basis. The offender must provide DOC the updated information within 10 days after the change occurs. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(4)(a). Further, the offender must provide advance notice to DOC updating information about an address change if the offender knows that his or her address will be changing. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(4)(a). DOC has promulgated administrative rules to help implement section 301.45's requirements. See Wis. Admin. Code ch. DOC 332.

An offender who knowingly fails to comply with his or her obligations under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(4) may be criminally prosecuted. Wis. Stat. § 301.45(6)(a). The State must prove

three elements: First, that the defendant was a person required to provide information under section 301.45; second, that the defendant failed to provide the required information; and third, the defendant knowing failed to provide this information. Wis. JI—Criminal 2198.

In State v. Dinkins, the supreme court recognized that homelessness may create challenges for offenders seeking to comply with their registration requirements. There, the State charged Dinkins with failing to comply with his registry obligation under Wis. Stat. § 301.45(2)(e)4. because he did not provide DOC with the address where he would be residing at least ten days before his release from prison. Dinkins, 339 Wis. 2d 78, ¶ 1. The supreme court vacated Dinkins' conviction, holding that "a registrant cannot be convicted . . . for failing to report the address at which he will be residing when he was unable to provide this information" because it "does not exist, despite the registrant's reasonable attempt to provide it." Id. ¶ 52. It emphasized that "homeless registrants are not exempt from registration requirements and that homelessness is not a defense to failing to comply with the registration requirements." Id. ¶¶ 27, 61.

In *Dinkins*, the supreme court recognized that DOC had subsequently issued a directive that provided "guidance for addressing homeless registrants who are on active DOC supervision as well as homeless registrants who have been terminated from supervision." *Dinkins*, 339 Wis. 2d 78, ¶ 26 (citing Wisconsin Department of Corrections Administrative Directive # 11-4, DOC-1356 (Rev.), effective July 1, 2011).³

³ DOC subsequently reissued the directive. Wisconsin Department of Corrections Administrative Directive # 15-12, DOC-1356 (Rev.), effective March 1, 2015. (R.-App. 101–104.)

B. Savage did not prove that his trial counsel was deficient because he was not entitled to a homelessness defense under *Dinkins*.

Savage argues that he could not be convicted for a registration violation based on a failure to report his address when he is homeless. (Savage's Br. 18.) Therefore, he contends that his counsel's performance was deficient because she did not inform him that, under *Dinkins*, good faith efforts to comply with the registration requirements constituted a defense to the charge. (Savage's Br. 2, 8, 18.)

The circuit court properly rejected Savage's ineffective assistance of counsel claim because it correctly recognized that *Dinkins* did not apply to his situation. (R. 45:71–75.) The record supports the circuit court's decision.

"[F]or trial counsel's performance to have been deficient, [Savage] would need to demonstrate that counsel failed to raise an issue of settled law." State v. Breitzman, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 49, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93 (citation omitted). Savage cannot demonstrate that his counsel was ineffective for failing to raise a Dinkins good-faith defense to the sex offender registry charge because, as he conceded in his request for oral argument and publication, "This Appeal involves issues of law which are not settled." (Savage's Br. 2 (emphasis added).) Therefore, by Savage's own concession, counsel's failure to raise a Dinkins good-faith defense did not fall below the objective standard of reasonableness necessary to sustain his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. See Breitzman, 378 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 49 (citations omitted).

But even without his concession that the law was unsettled, Dinkins involved "narrow circumstances" inapplicable to Savage's case. Dinkins, 339 Wis. 2d 78, ¶ 28. Dinkins was convicted for failing to comply with the requirement to provide notice of his address no later than "10 days prior to release from prison" because he had reached his maximum discharge date. Id. ¶¶ 7–8 (citing Wis. Stat.

§§ 301.45(2)(a)5. and (2)(e)4.) Dinkins was unable to locate housing before his release, and the State charged him with a registry violation before his release. *Dinkins*, 339 Wis. 2d 78, ¶¶ 10-16. The supreme court held that Dinkins could not be convicted for "failing to report the address at which he will be residing when he was unable to provide this information" because it "does not exist, despite the registrant's reasonable attempt to provide it." *Id.* ¶ 52.

Like Dinkins, Savage did not have a place to live as he approached his March 23, 2016, release date. (R. 20:11.) Savage listed "homeless" for his address on his sex offender registration form. (R. 2:8.) But DOC handled Savage's release differently from Dinkins' release. When DOC released Dinkins, it had not yet adopted its protocol for addressing homeless registrants. *Dinkins*, 339 Wis. 2d 78, ¶ 26. The absence of a protocol was critical to the supreme court's decision in *Dinkins*. "Because it was not in effect at the time of Dinkins' violation and prosecution, this new directive does not resolve the issues presented in this case." *Id*.

In contrast, DOC had adopted procedures to facilitate Savage's compliance with the registry despite homelessness. (R. 45:13, 23–24, R.-App. 101–02.) His counsel was familiar with these procedures. (R. 45:13, 23–24.) Unlike Dinkins, Savage's inability to provide an address as he approached release did not trigger his prosecution. Indeed, the record reflects that Savage called the registry on May 16, 2016, and provided an address, but when DOC sent a letter to the address days later, it was returned. (R. 20:11.) As counsel explained, Savage's removal of his GPS bracelet and his absconding from supervision demonstrated an intent not to comply with his registry obligations. (R. 20:11; 45:25–26.) Pursuing a good-faith defense would also have been challenging considering Savage's previous noncompliance with the registry requirements. (R. 45:41–42.) On this record, even if the legal parameters of the good-faith defense were settled law, counsel reasonably assessed that Savage did not have a *Dinkins* good-faith defense.

Counsel's performance was not deficient for another reason. Savage, who was being revoked on another charge, pleaded guilty to minimize his exposure. (R. 44:25.) As counsel explained, "[Savage] was adamant that he did not want any more supervision. . . He wanted concurrent time [and] not to have that exceed the revocation time he would be serving." (R. 45:27–28.) To this end, counsel secured a promise from the State to recommend one year in the county jail on Savage's guilty plea. (R. 44:2.) And Savage confirmed that he "was okay with just doing a year if it will be concurrent with my revocation time" and no additional supervision time. (R. 45:34–35.) Savage pleaded guilty, fully knowing that the circuit court was not bound by the plea agreement. (R. 44:4; 45:11, 70.) At sentencing, counsel argued that the circuit court should order Savage to serve his sentence concurrently with his revoked sentence. (R. 44:25.)

Counsel's performance cannot be deemed deficient for pursuing Savage's goal of minimizing additional exposure through a plea agreement rather than pursuing an uncertain defense due to Savage's noncompliance with the registry rules. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690–91 ("[S]trategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable.").

Savage's claim of ineffective assistance is grounded in his assertion that counsel failed to advise him that his homelessness was a defense to the charge. (Savage's Br. 2, 17.) In fact, the record demonstrates that counsel spoke to Savage about the homelessness defense. She explained to him that "homelessness was not an absolute defense to the charge" and that DOC had "a homeless protocol in place through the Sex Offender Registry." (R. 45:13.) The circuit court's determination that counsel was credible and Savage was not

defeats Savage's claim that counsel never spoke to him about a homelessness defense. (R. 45:66–69.)

Savage did not demonstrate that his counsel performed deficiently for failing to pursue a good-faith defense under *Dinkins*. Counsel provided reasonably competent professional advice that allowed Savage to knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered his plea. No manifest injustice occurred, and he is not entitled to plea withdrawal.

C. Savage did not prove that his trial counsel's allegedly deficient performance prejudiced him.

Savage also failed to prove that counsel's allegedly deficient performance prejudiced him. That is, Savage did not demonstrate to a "reasonable probability, that, but for the counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 312.

Here, Savage accepted a guilty plea agreement that offered "him a better resolution than would be likely after trial." *Lee*, 137 S. Ct. at 1966. Savage made clear to counsel that he wanted to avoid additional incarceration and supervision. (R. 45:11, 27–28.) The State capped its recommendation at one year of jail time without additional supervision. (R. 44:19.) The record, including counsel's statements to Savage, his plea questionnaire, and the plea colloquy, demonstrates that he understood the circuit court did not have to follow the plea agreement. (R. 6:1; 44:4; 45:70.)

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